VIRGINIA ELECTRIC AND POWER C'OMPANY
RicamonDn, VIRGINIA 23261

W. L. STEWART J A°R I8 " 3"
Vice PrEsipENT
NUCLEAR OPERATION® April 8, 1983

Mr. James P. 0'Reilly Serial No. 169
Regional Administrator NO/WDC:acm
Region II Docket Nos. 50-280
U. S. Nuclear Regulatory Commission 50-281
101 Marietta Street, Suite 2900 License Nos. DPR-32
Atlanta, Georgia 30303 DPR-37

Dear Mr. O'Reilly:

We have reviewed your letter of March 11, 1983 in reference to the inspection
conducted at Surry Power Station on February 7-11, 1983 and reported in IE
Inspection Report Nos. 50-280/83-05 and 50-281/83-05. Our response to the
specific infraction is attached.

We have determined that no proprietary information is contained in the report.
Accordingly, the Virginia Electric and Power Company has no objection to
this inspection report being made a matter of public disclosure. The
information contained in the a.tached pages is true and accurate to the best
of my knowledge and belief.

Very truly yours, .
////LEZ-)/\
W. L. Stewart ’Cfc;

Attachment

cc: Mr. Steven A. Varga, Chief
Operating Reactors Branch No. 1
Division of Licensing
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RESPONSE TO NOTICE OF VIOLATION

INSPECTION REPORT NOS. 50-280/83-05 AND 50-281/83-05

A. NRC COMMENT:

10 CFR 19.11 requires that any Notice of Violation involving radiological
working conditions along with the licensee's response be conspicuously posted
in a sufficient number of places to permit individuals engaged in licensed
activities to observe them on the way to and from any particular licensed
activity location to which the document applies and remain posted a minimum of
five days or wuntil action correcting the violation has been completed,
whichever is later.

Contrary to the above, the posting requirements were not met in that neither
the Notice of Violation issued with Inspection Report 50-280/281/82-33 on
December 21, 1982, nor the licensee's response dated Januzsry 20, 1983, were
posted on February 10, 1983. Action correcting the violation was not
complete.

This is a Severity Level V Violation (Supplement 1IV).

RESPONSE:

(1) ADMISSION OR DENIAL OF THE ALLEGED VIOLATION:

The violation is correct as stated.

(2) REASONS FOR VIOLATION:

The reason for the violation was determined to be an oversight on the
part of the station staff. The responsibility for posting of documents
specified in 10 CFR 19.11(a)(4) had become unclear due to recent changes
in the station's commitment tracking system.

(3) CORRECTIVE STEPS WHICH HAVE BEEN TAKEN AND THE RESULTS ACHIEVED:

The requirements of Administrative Procedure ADM-8, "10 CFR 19 Reporting
Requirements" have been reviewed with the station's Staff Assistant to
ensure complete understanding of the regulation. The subject Notice of
Violation and our response were immediately posted as required.

(4) CORRECTIVE STEPS WHICH WILL BE TAKEN TO AVOID FURTHER VIOLATIONS:

ADM-8, "10 CFR 19 Reporting Requirements” will be revised to clarify the
responsibility for such postings and to emphasize the associated minimum
time requirements.

(5) THE DATE WHEN FULL COMPLIANCE WILL BE ACLIEVED:

Full compliance has been achieved. ADM-8, "10 CFR 19 Reporting
Requirements" will be revised by May 1, 1983.



